



More than just a job:

The difference we make for people who are out of work

2021

Authors: Anne-Mari Hall, Jo Woodall, Emma Wakeling, Zoë Anderson



Table of Contents

Executive summary	3
Introduction	4
The role of The National Lottery	5
Reach of our employment funding	6
Employment outcomes	8
Improving lives, helping people to reach their potential	12
Steps in the right direction	12
New life and work skills	
Improved wellbeing	14
Greater security	14
New businesses, new futures	16
Creating lasting impact	17
Informed by lived experience	17
Leading the way	19
A chance to deliver on a wider scale	
Insights for the future	22

Acknowledgements

We'd like to thank the charities, community groups and individuals whose work is recognised in this report.

We'd also like to thank the colleagues who worked together with us in putting it together, and patiently dealt with our ongoing requests for information: Jolanta Astle; Helen Atherton; Tim Birch; Sharon O'Brien; Andrew Brown; Rebecca Blanche; Sarah Cheshire; Nigel Cummings; Ewan Davison; Peter Dobson; Simon Eleftheropoulos-Weatherburn; Peter Foggo; Gabrielle Goodridge; Nadeem Hanif; Temoor Iqbal; Sue Neville; Sue Ormiston; David Rowlands; Nick Smith; Terri Sylvester; Gavin Watters and Roger Winhall.

Executive summary

- We've supported over 5,300
 employment projects over the past five years, awarding over £717 million of National Lottery funding and £101 million from government and European sources.
- Our funding enables charities and community groups across the UK to support people on their journey to employment, building on the trust that local communities have in them.
 We also work on the supply side, helping employers see the untapped potential in people who may not have worked before, while also creating and sustaining employment by helping communities to diversify their local economies.
- Our funding has supported over 181,000 people through eight programmes alone. Building Better Opportunities (BBO) is our largest investment in this area, improving the employment chances of over 127,000 people since 2014.
- We focus on supporting people who face challenges in finding work, helping them overcome the barriers that stop them from achieving what they want to. Getting a foot in the labour market is an important goal for many, but others have more urgent issues to resolve first, like poor mental health or homelessness.
- Our grantholders support people at all stages, and in all aspects, of their employment journey, in ways that will have a long-lasting impact on their lives. Many of our smaller investments work with specific groups of people, like lone parents, veterans, or carers.

- The employment outcomes of our programmes compare well against comparator initiatives with similar target groups. Where data is available, evaluations show that the costs are within the range of other public and voluntary sector led programmes.
- Participation brings positive benefits for individuals, with many leaving better equipped to get a job, even if they haven't secured one yet. Many leave with new vocational skills as well as life skills that help them to succeed once they are in work. And the positive impacts on people's confidence and wellbeing help them to make the most of available training, volunteering and employment opportunities, as well as increasing their life satisfaction.
- There are wider societal benefits too. We find that many people get more involved in the local community, through volunteering and neighbourhood initiatives. The economic value of the employment outcomes for participants in the Making it Work programme in Scotland has been calculated at £11.5 million, with wellbeing outcomes providing an additional £3 million in social value. Our largest employment programme for young people, Talent Match, has created at least £3.08 of public benefit for every £1 spent on the programme.
- The impact of our funding goes beyond individuals. Our projects have improved the way other services, like Jobcentres and mental health services, support people. We've helped to give charities and community groups access to larger and longer funding programmes, as well as new funding models. We also contribute to new research in the employment sector, which helps to inform future policies and practice.

Introduction

For many people, having a job is an important part of our lives. It's not just about earning an income. Working also gives many of us a sense of accomplishment and pride; a chance to meet and interact with others; and a welcome routine and structure to our lives.

Losing a job can be the trigger or the starting point to a difficult time and can lead to a crisis. On the other hand, a fulfilling job can improve wellbeing. But if you've never worked before or you've experienced traumatic events, it can be difficult to find your way (back) into employment.

That's where we come in. We distribute grants to employment projects led by charities and community groups from National Lottery, government and European funding. We focus on supporting people who face challenges in finding work, helping them to stabilise their lives, working to (re)build their confidence, and supporting them throughout the job search process. We believe voluntary sector organisations are well placed to help people with their employment ambitions because of their expertise, knowledge and people-centred approaches, and the trust that local communities have in them.

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on our economy and labour market. Unemployment increased to 5.1% in the three months to November 2020. This means that many of the people we support will find it harder to secure jobs in an increasingly competitive labour market.

This is why we've decided to take stock of what we've funded in the area of employment and to look back at the difference our funding has made. We've also put together another paper with key messages from the voluntary and community sector for those who are planning, funding or delivering employment programmes; it explores the most effective, people-led techniques that organisations in the sector are using to help people who are out of work.

Saving lives

Support from charities can be life-changing, with effects going far beyond employment. A participant in one of our <u>Building Better</u>

<u>Opportunities</u> projects had been planning to take his own life. He was persuaded to join the three-month programme – a level of commitment he was able to manage.

Project workers got to know him, found out his strengths and interests, and helped him to think how these could be part of his future plans. Together, they identified a hobby that he felt confident in training others to do, and eventually he was able to set up his own business to achieve this. Life became worth living again. This is a business success story, but it's also the story of a life transformed.

The role of The National Lottery

We've funded over 5,300 projects in the field of employment over the past five years,² awarding over £717 million of National Lottery money and £101 million from other sources. These range from small grants, like £5,000 to Articulate Cultural Trust to support the employment ambitions of care-experienced young people in Renfrewshire, to multi-annual million pound investments, like £11.5 million over the past seven years to tackle youth unemployment in the Black Country.

Our funding relating to employment isn't only about numbers and targets – it's about improving people's lives and supporting communities to thrive. The money supports people at all stages, and in all aspects, of their employment journey.

Many grantholders help people to succeed in their job search, from writing CVs and job applications to preparing for interviews, and even making sure they have smart clothes to make the right impression or an alarm clock to make sure they get to work on time. They also address the less obvious, less visible, and more complex barriers people face.

These range from overcoming complex mental health needs to identifying and filling gaps in skills. They may provide counselling, training, or peer support. And mentors and coaches help people to make the best of a new job, navigate new routines and relationships, and overcome any problems that may arise.

We also work on the supply side, helping employers see the untapped potential in people who may not have worked before and understand how they can support their employees. Other funding helps to create and sustain employment, like the Coastal Communities Fund which creates and safeguards existing jobs by helping coastal communities to diversify their local economies. Some grantholders help people to enter self-employment or to set up their own business or social enterprise. **Inspiring Enterprise** does this in and around Hampshire and Surrey, so far helping nearly 900 people with their business and employment ambitions.

Some of our larger grants enable providers to support the employment journey from beginning to end, by working together with a range of local partners and providing wrap-around support. Smaller ones help organisations that play a defined, often specialist, role. They may address certain issues or barriers, or support specfic communities such as ex-offenders, veterans or disabled workers. And there are also projects which focus on other issues, including loneliness or the environment, but have an impact on the employability of the people involved.

Because of this diversity of funding, we are focussing here on outcomes from some of our largest investments, which have consistent reach and outcome data.

Reach of our employment funding

Our grantholders have supported over 181,000 people with their employment ambitions through eight major programmes alone. Building Better Opportunities (BBO) is our largest investment in this area, improving the employment chances of over 127,000 people since 2014.

Talent Match is our largest investment for young people, with over 27,000 participants since 2013. Many of our smaller investments work with specific groups of people. In Scotland, 3,115 parents took part in our Making it Work programme, which addressed single parents' barriers to employment, including lack of affordable childcare and social networks to support their participation in work and training.

We support many disabled people and people with long-term health conditions, with BBO alone having helped over 60,000. Our funding also helps people who aren't known to the services who could help them; a fifth of young Talent Match participants, for example, are neither receiving benefits nor engaged in employment, education or training.



Participants on selected employment programmes³

Building Better Opportunities

Has supported **127,067** people in England since 2016. This includes people who are looking for employment, but also many who weren't in a place to find work at the time (47%), due to ill health for example. Disabled people make up 49% of participants, and people from Black, Asian and other minority ethnic (BAME) backgrounds 23%.

Commissioning Better Outcomes (CBO) and Life Chances Fund (LCF)

Bringing together government and National Lottery funding to facilitate social investment since 2013 (CBO) and 2016 (LCF) in England. **4,739** people have taken part to date in programmes which support the employment outcomes of participants who have mental health or substance misuse issues, or have learning disabilities.

Engage to Change

Has supported over **780** young people in Wales since 2016. This is aimed at young people aged 16-25 who have a learning difficulty, learning disability, and/or autism.

Getting Ahead

Supported **933** young people in Wales from 2010-2015. Participants were 16 to 18 years old, and not in employment, education or training (NEET). Many had been in care or were known to youth offending services.

Life Skills

Two Life Skills programmes supported a total of **5,287** people in 2010-2015 in Wales. They were primarily aimed at care leavers, carers, economically inactive families, and people aged 50+.

Making it Work

Supported **3,115** lone parents in five local authority areas in Scotland from 2013-2017. Most were unemployed or inactive, and living in rented accommodation. A quarter indicated that they had an illness or disability that affected their ability to work.

Our Bright Future

Since 2016, this programme has supported **121,400** young people across the UK to lead future environmental change. As well as learning about environmental leadership, they benefit from an opportunity to improve their employability. Although most are still in full-time education, around 10-15% aren't, and so an estimate of 12,000 has been included in our total figure above.

Talent Match

Programme to support young people in England who need help to find work, with **27,190** supported since 2013. Evaluators concluded that participants "tended to be more disadvantaged and further from the labour market than the wider population of NEETs in England". Low wellbeing and mental health issues also emerged as key barriers.

Employment outcomes

The ultimate goal of our employment programmes is to improve people's lives, helping them gain new skills and overcome the barriers that stop them from achieving what they want to.

Getting a foot in the labour market is an important goal for many, but others have more urgent issues to resolve first, like learning to manage anxiety or finding somewhere safe to live. Our funding meets people where they are at, looking to support them in ways that will have a long lasting impact on their lives.

The outcomes of our employment programmes compare well against comparator initiatives with similar target groups. At 30%, the employment rate achieved by Making it Work was comparable to the outcomes of similar employment initiatives in Scotland (15-40%). Talent Match research suggests that 58% of their respondents had entered employment in the previous 12-month period, compared to 42% of matched Labour Force Survey respondents.⁴

BBO

By the end of October 2020, over a third (38%) of the 46,385 participants had found a job, started study, or were actively looking for work. Evaluators describe the programme's performance as 'strong', given the structural and personal barriers many participants face. For example, nearly half (47%) were classed as economically inactive, i.e. people who aren't looking for a job or available to start work, due to ill health for example.

Nearly one in five (17%) exit the programme to enter employment and another 14% to start studies or a new training course, often marking a major milestone in their life. Another 7% are actively looking for work.

The figures are even higher for people from BAME backgrounds, with 42% finding a positive outcome: 19% found a job, 15% started to study, and another 8% are actively looking for work.

Talent Match

Nearly half (46%) of the 25,885 young people secured some form of job/self-employment.⁷ Although some faced issues around job security (due to zero-hours contracts for instance), on the whole they saw their jobs as part of a progression to employment more aligned to their aspirations.

These employment outcomes were good when analysed against the outcomes of a comparator group drawn from the Labour Force Survey Five Quarter Longitudinal Panel, an employment survey run by the Office of National Statistics.8 This assessment suggests that 58% of Talent Match respondents had entered employment in the 12-month period compared to 42% of matched Labour Force Survey respondents. This difference (16 percentage points) is statistically significant at a level greater than 0.005.

This implies that 28% of participants who gained an employment outcome would not have done so had it not been for their participation in Talent Match. The remaining 72% who secured a job might have done so without participating, for example due to improvements in personal circumstances or new jobs in the area.

We're starting to hear good news stories from our Talent Match sustainability programme. Talent Match Black Country has reported 80 job outcomes since March 2020, with many of these jobs going to young people who have recently been released from prison and want to change their lives for good.

Making it Work

Nearly a third of the 3,115 lone parents (935 people, 30%) moved into work after their participation in the programme; 83% found full-time work (more than 16 hours) and 17% parttime work (less than 16 hours).9 This employment rate was equivalent to other similar programmes in Scotland (15-40%). Besides support for parents, the programme team did a lot to challenge employer attitudes about part-time work, encouraging employers to offer enough hours and a degree of flexibility so that lone parents can balance the demands of work and family life. Building parents' confidence in childcare was equally important.

Commissioning Better Outcomes and Life Chances Fund

So far, around 20% of participants (1,055 people) have gained employment, according to the latest set of data available (project is ongoing).

An evaluation of one of the social investment models used - Mental Health and Employment Partnerships (MHEP) – found that between March 2016 and September 2019,¹⁰ almost a third (30.6%) of participants obtained a job, and 70% of these sustained their job for at least six weeks.¹¹

Engage to Change

By early 2021, approximately 780 young people had gone through a range of employability interventions, including 29% undertaking paid work placements and/or nearly three-quarters (73%) taking part in unpaid placements or volunteering. Over a quarter (28%) of the 780 participants have found a job.

Life Skills

Both Life Skills programmes found positive outcomes for over half of their participants: 18% moved into employment (more than doubling the original goal), 6% went onto study or train, and an additional 38% achieved other personal development goals. In addition, 42% gained new qualifications.

They were particularly successful with over-50s, but struggled to support care leavers and carers to the same extent partially because carers were looking for shorter hours that they could fit around caring responsibilities. They were also hesitant to use childcare and respite care offers provided by the programme, and preferred to leave their dependants with their own family and therefore preferred part-time hours that they could fit around their caring responsibilities. Life Skills were among the first larger programmes of this kind to take a proactive approach, not just running drop-in centres but actively marketing and promoting the service in the community.

These outcomes bring many positive benefits for individuals, but wider societal benefits too. The economic value of the employment outcomes for the 3,115 participants in Making it Work has been calculated at £11.5 million, with wellbeing outcomes providing an additional £3 million in social value. 12 At £7,424 per employment outcome, the cost is within the range achieved by other public and other voluntary sector led programmes.

Talent Match created at least £3.08 of public benefit for every £1 spent on the programme, through additional income, economic outputs and improved life satisfaction.¹³ The evaluators refer to this as an "impressive outcome" and "testament to the emphasis placed on holistic support models which addressed multiple aspects of disadvantage experienced by young people".¹⁴

But the nature of jobs open to young people meant that the the immediate fiscal benefits - direct monetary effect on the public purse - were small: up to £0.08 of additional fiscal benefit per £1 of Talent Match expenditure. This is because many who found a job paid relatively low tax and National Insurance contribution, and remained eligible for welfare benefits. It reflects the substantial investment that is required to support young people who are most disadvantaged in the labour market.

One in ten (12%) BBO participants get more involved in the community, thanks to taking part.¹⁵ This has potential benefits to society, from reducing isolation to better connected communities where people help and support their neighbours and beyond.

Nathanael's story

Often, people who've taken part in our programmes want to help others who are going through similar experiences. One Talent Match participant, Nathanael, who was supported to find training and work after leaving prison, now has a role as a tutor, helping to inspire other young people to gain employment skills. He recognises the impact it had to join the project and find support from people who had faith in his potential. He says, "it's hard to believe that just last summer I was still in prison but that today I'm in a job and helping other young people achieve their potential [...] I'm really enjoying explaining to them how you can learn from your mistakes and turn your life around for the better."16



A social value for young people and their communities

Talent Match Plus Liverpool has measured the social value of individual case studies using a social return on investment (SROI) framework. This framework takes into account a wide variety of outcomes such as employability, housing, contact with the criminal justice system, and mental health and wellbeing. Based on 31 case studies, Talent Match Plus Liverpool has created nearly £1.7 million worth of social value, providing an average individual value of £54,624.¹⁷

One case study tells the story of a young woman who had experienced a lot of traumatic events; her parents were heroin addicts and she had been groomed. She spent time in prison and experienced poor mental health. Since joining Talent Match, she's received help from a mentor, taken part in training and career support, and engaged with mental health services.

She has also completed qualifications in mental health and counselling, and now has a life plan in place. Her confidence has improved, she hasn't reoffended, and feels her anxiety is now more manageable. She wants to continue with her studies and become a qualified counsellor. Thanks to her hard work and the support of Talent Match, the estimated individual SROI is £95,847.18



Improving lives, helping people to reach their potential

Steps in the right direction

People get more than a job taking part in our programmes; there are wider benefits for participants, their families and wider communities. That's why many of our grantholders measure the 'distance travelled' by participants towards getting a job, to show the progress they've made, even if they aren't yet in employment, education or training.

Making it Work in Scotland measured the distance lone parents travelled during their time on the programme. The majority moved closer to employment by improving confidence (73%), managing feelings better (49%), and improving communication (44%). Around half achieved these improvements within the first six months, while others needed a year to make progress due to the complexity of the challenges they faced.

"[My goals have] been made a lot clearer cos if this was me a couple of years back I wouldn't have known what I was doing, what I wanted to do, but since these placements and everything else I've got a more defined goal as to where I want to end up [...] it's helped tremendously [...]"

Talent Match participant²⁰

From the beginning, the focus of Talent Match has been on the journey to employment, and this has enabled us to learn how pieces of the journey fit together for participants and how they progress. The final evaluation shows that a significant group of participants who didn't find a job still felt more 'work ready' after taking part. The percentage of young people in the two 'furthest from the labour market' categories decreased from 56% to 43% by three months after starting on the programme and then to 34% by the end. Conversely the percentage in the two categories nearest to the labour market increased from 29% of participants at the beginning to 41% at three months and to 52% at their last response.²¹

Young people who did find a job were satisfied with their post, highlighting how it made them feel 'worthwhile'. But nearly half felt they were underemployed and most of those in zero-hour contracts (11%) wanted more security in terms of hours. On the whole, they saw their jobs as part of progression to employment more aligned to their aspirations. And they felt the Talent Match jobs helped to clarify their career aspirations and build pathways to better employment.

The mid-term evaluation of Our Bright Future showed that confidence and skills gained by young people through their involvement in environmental activities has many spin-off effects on their employability.²² The participants on the <u>UpRising Environmental Leadership</u> programme have said that "UpRisers feel more accomplished and more able to challenge their own barriers towards gaining new employment or training".

Just under three-quarters of BBO participants (74%) reported improved confidence, which in turn has led to increased motivation, improved selfesteem and reduced social isolation.²³ For example, Connecting Opportunities, a project supporting migrants, refugees and asylum seekers in Kirklees and Calderdale, has seen the impact of improved confidence first hand. People feel more confident to access services without interpreters, and are more likely to pursue training and work placements.

New life and work skills

Learning new skills can be an important part of any pathway to employment. For many, these are more than vocational skills. They include important life skills to help people to integrate into the workplace and maintain a job.

The add-on support that the participants on Getting Ahead in Wales received went from help in planning travel for work, to telling the time, understanding money, and getting to work on time. These skills can also be gained through work placements and short-term employment. Northside Family Support Programme (Artillery Youth Centre) in Northern Ireland employed 10 local young people to help deliver youth work, make environmental improvements and run a cafe.²⁴

A third (58%) of single parents on the Making it Work programme felt they were able to write better CVs and job applications as a result of taking part, and 62% felt more prepared for interviews. At the end of the programme, 94% of participants (compared to 77% at the start) felt they were able to articulate their strengths and skills, including skills they'd gained through parenting.²⁵

BBO evaluators assess changes in life and work skills, recognising that both are needed. Nearly a third (31%) of all BBO participants have learned new life skills and 27% have developed practical (job-specific) and transferable work skills, such as communication skills.²⁶

Small things matter

Gaps in life skills aren't always obvious or easy to acknowledge, but can have a huge impact on a person's ability and confidence in the workplace. One young man on Talent Match became distressed when given work boots with steel toecaps when doing work experience on a construction site, because he didn't know how to tie his shoelaces. He was too embarrassed to ask someone at work to help and without support from the programme, he might just have walked away from the placement.

Improved wellbeing

We see people improving their mental health, resilience and life satisfaction thanks to our funding. For some, these outcomes are a higher priority than finding a job. For others, improved wellbeing is an unanticipated but welcome outcome of taking part in an employment programme.

Just under half (46%) of the 123,000 BBO participants feel better after taking part.²⁷ Positive Progressions, a BBO project in Yorkshire, has seen improvements in people's resilience in coping with difficult situations and increased confidence to support themselves, their families and ask for help from other services. This has reduced their reliance on crisis support.

The wellbeing of Talent Match participants was generally worse than that of the general population when they joined the programme, but this gap closed for most participants. Most reported improved life satisfaction: 70% of those who found a job and 60% of those who didn't. The percentage of participants with a high life satisfaction more than doubled from 9% to 24%, just below the national average. And over three-quarters (78%) who initially recorded a low wellbeing score went on to record a higher score at a later stage.²⁸

Some young people from Talent Match saw improving their wellbeing as their main priority. This highlights the importance of integrated programmes that provide non-work support like personal development, social/peer activities and counselling, alongside employment-related support.

Greater security

When people improve their financial situation, either because they've found a job or because they've been given help to manage their finances, it gives them greater security. For this reason, many charities also support people to access the benefits they are entitled to, so that they are able to focus on their job search without worrying about being able to pay bills or buy food.

Three-quarters (75%) of lone parents who participated in Making it Work improved their household income during the programme.²⁹ In many cases this was because they had found a job they could balance with their caring responsibilities. But finding affordable, high-quality childcare through the crèches the programme had set up was equally important. While the purpose-built crèches aren't necessarily a sustainable solution on their own, using them built many lone parents' confidence in childcare providers, which again increased their chances of pursuing studies or employment.

BBO monitors a range of practical changes in people's lives, from finances to community involvement, finding that one in five participants (21%) have improved their financial situation.³⁰ This is a result of finding a job, getting hands-on support in accessing benefits they were entitled to, receiving debt advice, and improving money management skills.

Likewise, when improved housing – or actually finding some housing – forms part of the journey to employment, it gives people a solid base for moving into work. It wasn't originally envisaged that BBO would support people to improve their accommodation. Then a request for support was received from one participant, who was living in a shed with a leak that let the rain in. It showed the importance of decent housing in the pathway to employment, and in response we work with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to adapt the programme so that these costs could be covered. Since then BBO has supported a small number of its participants (up to 3%) who were homeless or living in unsafe housing to improve their accommodation as part of the wider employment support package.



A home, better health, and a job

The evaluators of Tackling Multiple Disadvantage (TMD), a BBO project in 17 London Boroughs, found a positive correlation between gaining secure housing and sustaining employment - 48% of people were in the same job six months later, which rose to 68% among participants who had secured housing.31 The reduced uncertainty due to safe and secure housing led to improvements in physical health and wellbeing, and management of health conditions The project achieved a 27% employment outcome rate - substantially higher than recent comparable projects supporting people with multiple and complex needs

"I've got a roof over my head through the help of Crisis. I've got a potential a job opportunity with Crisis, well I've been able to pass my theory test through Crisis, and also get my driving lessons through Crisis as well. So, yes, they've literally covered a lot of key areas, like, life skill areas that is needed for career, a roof over your head and being able to drive."

TMD participant.

New businesses, new futures

While most of our employment projects support people to move into employment, the Coastal Communities Fund creates and safeguards existing jobs - a total of 7,000 by April 2016, with a further 11,000 anticipated by 2021.32 This funding has helped coastal communities to diversify their local economies - from organic kelp production to manufacturing surf boards. It has supported new business start ups (485) and social enterprises (181). For example in Hull, Watergate Developments has been building the Centre for Digital Innovation, which provides space, advice and support for digital businesses. A £300,000 grant funded the construction of a river defence wall, which supported the required development of the old dry dock area.

Our Bright Future has shown the value of sector-focused initiatives. Participants have set up new businesses and social enterprises in the environmental sector, based around forestry, bee keeping, and products made from natural and recycled materials. One of the programme's most successful enterprise projects is the Student Eats initiative, which has worked in 50 colleges and universities across the UK, encouraging young people to grow food on campus and/or establish food-based social enterprises, such as farmers' markets and food co-ops. Of the 67 young people who completed the training, 53 went on to trade sucessfully as social enterprises.33 One example is Wiltshire College students selling apple juice, preserves and cakes to the local community. "I [now] understand how to carve out a niche, valuable career for myself to fit my interests and abilities as well as to benefit the environment", explained one project participant.

Many local charities and networks do similar work. And we often find that businesses and social enterprises created with our support have a social element, because people want to give back to their community or support people who've been through similar experiences.

B Collective, a community enterprise in Newcastle, has supported 138 women on their journey to self-employment, through accredited training, workshops, trading opportunities and business advice. 36 women are now trading regularly, with 21 members registered as self-employed.



Creating lasting impact

Informed by lived experience

The barriers people face to employment, the experiences they've gone through and the behaviours that can result may be hard for others to understand. Many charities and community groups recognise this lived experience as something to learn from to inform and improve their projects and services.

One way they've done this is by adopting a co-production approach, bringing people and stakeholders together to create and deliver services.³⁴ People with lived experience have helped to change attitudes and have directly informed services, helping to transform the way they are delivered.

It's not just charities and public services that have benefited from the insight of lived experience. Young people from Talent Match have been commissioned by employers like Centrica, Bupa and Unilever to review their recruitment, employment and training practices. They've cut out jargon from their job adverts, improved their recruitment videos, and done some myth-busting about employment of (young) people without work experience. The young people's leadership group for Talent Match Cornwall advised their council on redesigning its services and were paid by local company Ginsters for consultancy work on youth employment.



Services that fit people, so people don't have to fit into them³⁵

Birmingham Changing Futures has helped to change the way DWP Jobcentres in the city support people who are leading complex and sometimes chaotic lives. For the first time, peer mentors from Changing Futures (individuals with experience of homelessness, mental health and/or substance misuse) work alongside the Jobcentres' outreach work coaches. They share their stories and life experiences.

Michelle, from DWP, explained what staff learn from this: "We see why a person who is homeless, has mental ill health, a criminal record or experienced substance misuse, could feel intimidated walking into a Jobcentre and how that feeling of fear could translate into difficult behaviour."

Peer mentors' insights have led to many practical changes in how the Jobcentre delivers support. For instance, rather than expecting people to come to the Jobcentre for timed appointments, outreach work coaches and peer mentors meet people where they feel safe, such as local dropin centres for the homeless. And Jobcentre staff schedule appointments differently; everything on one day, rather than expecting people to come on different days.

Every Birmingham Jobcentre now has a work coach with specialist understanding of homelessness. It's their responsibility to raise awareness and understanding among their peers. Each has shadowed peer mentors and outreach work coaches.

Information now flows more smoothly through the system: "I can flag someone to the Jobcentre as vulnerable so instead of logging a no show when they don't make an appointment, our team can look at possible causes for concern," explained one outreach work coach. "We can feedback to their peer mentor, who can go out and look for the person and help them re-connect. This way we avoid crises."

Feedback suggests the changes have had a positive effect. People are starting to open up and share earlier, before reaching a crisis point. Michelle explains: "Their life experience means it's difficult for them to trust 'the system'. They don't give the Jobcentre team the full story, so problems don't come to light until they are extreme [...] a failure to attend DWP appointments could mean Universal Credit is not paid and rent arrears accumulate, but they say nothing. Only when eviction seems certain do they finally tell their support worker. Tackling the problems much earlier makes things better for everyone. Based in a space they feel comfortable I can help address concerns straight away."

Leading the way

The impact of our funding goes beyond participants. By having the time and freedom to try things out, many of our funded projects have been able to run employment services differently. By sharing their learning and expertise, they've helped to improve the way other services and employers work with people.



Putting equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) front and centre

BBO is working to make sure all delivery partners stay focused on equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI). They've embedded an equality lens in the programme design, asking grantholders to report their performance against EDI indicators. Many have found that conducting regular equality reviews and audits helps them to stay focused, and to avoid unwittingly restricting opportunities for people they're supporting. Actions could include lead organisations proactively working with relevant partners to reach particular demographics or, at the micro scale, checking and preventing unconscious bias.

This is a more hands on approach than we would usually have as a funder, but many recognise the benefits. A representative of Motiv8 in Manchester explains: "We've seen the importance of raising awareness amongst staff, including: monitoring completion of Equality and Diversity training, promotion of this crosscutting theme, and exploring ideas within our Equality working group. We have also found it important to have a diverse workforce (which we monitor annually), which incidentally also matches the population diversity of Greater Manchester."

Our Bright Future is raising awareness of the value of work placements and entry level positions to help young people overcome the "experience" hurdle – the challenge of not finding a job without experience, and not being able to gain experience without a job. As a result, many environmental organisations have started to create posts for young people who show potential but don't have the necessary qualifications or formal work experience.³⁶ Blackburne House, a Liverpool-based charity which supports women from disadvantaged backgrounds, has created two positions for participants, enabling them to apply for jobs as beekeeping tutors teaching others to look after bees, extract honey and take their products to market.

Talent Match sustainability partnerships have been working locally on the Government's response to rising youth unemployment through Youth Hubs and Kickstart Programmes. They've shared learning from the programme with the Youth Employment Group (YEG) network, which brings together 100 member organisations and is currently focussing on how to address the impact of Covid-19 on young people. Two young people from Talent Match Black Country's Steering Group have recently joined the YEG to ensure young people's voice is at front and centre of their work.

A chance to deliver on a wider scale

Being able to access large funding programmes, and developing the capacity to deliver services at this scale, is helping charities to obtain financial support for their services.

One of the aims of BBO was to increase access to European funding for VCS groups and social enterprises, in recognition of their experience and ability to offer specialist support. Around 26% of organisations were accessing European Social Fund (ESF) funding for the first time through BBO, either as the lead grantholder or as a partner. Some have gone on to apply for further ESF funding, such as several of the partners in the Better Off Finance project, led by the Women's Organisation. Others say that they've been able to increase the capacity of their organisation thanks to the BBO funding: "We developed a separate and substantial employability section of the organisation as a direct result of BBO."

Trying out new funding models has also helped to sustain services that otherwise might not have been continued.



Social investment for services that could have been lost

Using a social investment funding approach has enabled public sector organisations to carry on commissioning VCS and social enterprise providers of employment support for people with severe mental health issues.

Individual Placement and Support (IPS) services embed employment advisors in mental health teams. These advisers help people with severe mental health problems to get into work and then provide extended support for them when they are in the job.

A number of providers delivering IPS services were facing uncertain budgets and increasingly shorter contract lengths. By adapting to the Social Impact Bond (SIB) model of Mental Health and Employment Partnerships (MHEP), they were able to enter into payment by results or outcomes-based contracting with the commissioners. This meant they weren't taking the same level of risk as previously, because the SIB places the risk on the social investor who will get a return for their investment based on performance.

In all previous IPS service delivery contracts, providers experienced over-subscription of their services at the same time as funding shortages. Through entering into an outcomes based contract, the service can be fully funded (depending on performance) through outcomes payments made by the local commissioners. They've been able to expand their teams and free up managers from frontline duties so they can manage more effectively and focus on innovations to the service model, such as greater use of digital communications and social media.

A commissioner explained that the new funding model had led to improved partnership working, giving "greater sense of urgency and drive as a collective because we all want to see it to work and want it to be financially viable for the provider."³⁷

This social investment approach, which is facilitated by the Commissioning Better Outcomes (CBO) fund and Life Chances Fund (LCF) means that delivery can be made at a scale far larger than previously envisaged. This will provide more evidence of the impact and effectiveness of IPS as an intervention in the UK

Insights for the future

We also contribute to new research in the employment sector, which helps to inform future policies and practice.

We're funding Drink Wise, Age Well, a major new programme of work which addresses the challenges of alcoholrelated harm in older adults. They've carried out a survey looking at the relationship between alcohol and labour market activity in the over 50s population of the UK. It shows that 40% of older men (aged 55-64) and older women (aged 55-59) on Jobseeker's Allowance are a high risk group in terms of problem drinking, almost twice the proportion of the next highest age group, those aged 16-24. At the same time, just 16% of employers would hire someone with previous alcohol problems.

Greater Manchester Talent Match's research into 'hidden' young people has influenced regional policy. They found that there were over 21,000 young people living in Greater Manchester who weren't known to any service: they weren't working, studying, registered unemployed, or claiming benefits. As a result of their research and dialogue with Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), support for hidden young people is now included in the local Strategy Implementation Plan. They've secured further National Lottery funding to continue their work with hidden youth.



References

- 1. Office for National Statistics, ONS (2021). Labour market overview, UK: February 2021 [online]. Available at: ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/latest [accessed: 08 Mar 21]
- 2. This includes financial years 2015/2016 2019/2020 and covers all grantholders that have used one of the following key terms: arent employed, aren't employed, employment, entrepreneur, entrepreneurial, entrepreneurs, jobless, NEET, not in education or training, not in employment, social enterprise, unemployed, unemployment, interview skills, preparation for employment, work experience, work skills, neet.
- 3. Making it Work, Our Bright Future and Talent Match are/were funded by the National Lottery. BBO and Life Skills programmes have brought together National Lottery funding with money from the European Social Fund. Engage to Change and Getting Ahead have been implemented with the Welsh Government, distributing money from dormant accounts. Sources are as follows:

BBO: Ecorys (2020). Building Better Opportunities Evaluation. Annual Report 2020 [online]. Available at: building Better Opportunities Evaluation Annual Report 2020.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]

CBO and LCF: These support the delivery of outcomes based contracts that seek to tackle complex social problems, some of which include employment outcomes either as the primary focus of the programme or as one of their supplementary outcomes. Eight of these Social Impact Bonds (SIBs) use the Individual Placement Support (IPS) 'place then train' model. An Employment Specialist helps participants gain competitive employment and then supports them as necessary, in the job, according to their needs. Other programmes support primary outcomes, such as supporting homeless people into sustained accommodation; with employment acting as a secondary outcome.

Getting Ahead: ICF (2016). Evaluation of Getting Ahead: the Symud Ymlaen/Moving Forward Project [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/Getting-Ahead-Final-Report.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]

Life Skills: Wavehill Ltd. (2015). Ongoing evaluation of the Life Skills Project – Convergence. Final Phase Report (2015) [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/Life-Skills-Phase-5-Final-Report-Conv-English-14.9.15. pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]

Life Skills: Wavehill Ltd. (2015). Ongoing evaluation of the Life Skills Project – Competitiveness. Final Phase Report (2015) [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/Life-Skills-Phase-5-Final-Report-Comp-English-14.9.15.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]

Making it Work: Batty, E. et al. (2017). Making it Work: Learning and Evaluation Contract. Final Evaluation Report [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/miw-evaluation-final-report-Oct-2017-1.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]

Our Bright Future: it is a nationwide programme that brings together the youth and environmental sectors, equipping 11-24 year olds to lead future environmental change. Hudson, H. et al. (2019). Our Bright Future. Mid-term evaluation [online]. Available at: thickness-sub-red (2019). Our Bright Future. Mid-term evaluation [online]. Available at: thickness-sub-red (2019). Our Bright Future. Mid-term evaluation [online]. Evaluation-Final-Report.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]

Talent Match: This includes 25,885 young people who took part in Talent Match 2013/2019 and 1,305 young people on the ongoing Talent Match sustainability programme, with three of the original 21 partnerships receiving funding for another three years. Damm, C. et al. (2020). Talent Match Evaluation: A Final Assessment [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/documents/Talent-Match/Talent-Match/Talent-Match/Talent-Match/Talent-Match-eval-final-assessment.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]

- Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research (2020). Talent Match Evaluation:
 Understanding the impact and value of Talent Match [online]. Available at:
 tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/tm-eval-impact-value-final-2020.
 pdf [accessed: 08 Mar 21]
- 5. Ecorys (2019). Building Better Opportunities Evaluation.
- 6. Office for National Statistics defines economic inactivity as follows: People not in employment who have not been seeking work within the last 4 weeks and/or are unable to start work within the next 2 weeks.
- 7. Damm, C. et al. (2020) Talent Match Evaluation: A Final Assessment
- 8. Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research (2020).
- 9. Batty, E. et al. (2017).
- 10. During the period covered by the evaluation, the programme drew from two funds: the Social Outcomes Fund (SOF), managed by the Cabinet Office, until March 2018, then the Commissioning Better Outcomes fund (CBO), managed by the National Lottery Community Fund.
- 11. Behavioural Insights Team (2020). Individual Placement Support: A Social Impact Bond Model [online]. Available at: tmlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/ Social-Impact-Bond-IPS-Research-Report-Final.pdf
- 12. Batty, E. et al. (2017).
- 13. Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research (2020).
- 14. Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research (2020).
- 15. Ecorys (2020).
- 16. "Former prisoner turns life around to help youngsters", Express & Star, 29 Oct 2020 [online] Available at: expressandstar.com/news/education/2020/10/29/former-prisoner-turns-life-around-to-help-youngsters [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- 17. Ark Consultancy (2020). Talent Match Liverpool. Social Return on Investment. Covid Case Study Report 3 [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/Case-Study-Report-3-July-2020-MYA-LCR-Talent-Match-Plus.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- Ark Consultancy (2020). Talent Match Liverpool. Social Return on Investment. Individual Case Study Report 2 [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/Case-Study-Report-2-April-2020-MYA-LCR-Talent-Match-Plus2.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- 19. Batty, E. et al. (2017).
- Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research (2018). Involving young people: Lessons from the Talent Match programme evaluation [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/young-person-summary.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- 21. Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research (2020).
- 22. Hudson, H. et al. (2019).
- 23. Ecorys (2020).

- 24. Artillery Youth Centre (2020) 22 Sep. [online]. Available at: facebook.com/artilleryyouth/photos/a.1039863626079711/3495416570524392/ [accessed 08 March 2021]
- 25. Batty, E. et al. (2017).
- 26. Ecorys (2020).
- 27. Ecorys (2020).
- 28. Damm, C. et al. (2020). Talent Match Evaluation: A Final Assessment
- 29. Batty, E. et al. (2017).
- 30. Ecorys (2020).
- 31. Friel, S. et al. (2020). Tackling Multiple Disadvantage: Final Evaluation Report. [online] Available at: crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/services-and-interventions/tackling-multiple-disadvantage-final-evaluation-report-2020 [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- 32. Until 2016, we delivered this programme on behalf of the UK Government and the Devolved Administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. Since 2016, we've been running the programme in Wales only (although it has continued in England, Scotland and Northern Ireland too). Coastal Communities Fund (2016). Annual Progress Report, 2016 [online]. Available at: assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603450/CCF_Report_2016.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- 33. Hudson, H. et al. (2019).
- 34. The National Lottery Community Fund (2019). A Meeting of Minds: How co-production benefits people, professionals and organisations. Insights and inspiration from five strategic investments in England [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/A-Meeting-of-Minds_How-co-production-benefits-people-professionals-and-organisations.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- 35. Birmingham Changing Futures Together (2020). New approach at the DWP transforms engagement [online]. Available at: tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/case-study_DWP-V1.pdf [accessed 08 Mar 21]
- 36. Hudson, H. et al. (2019).
- 37. Behavioural Insights Team (2020).

Disclaimer

This report tells personal stories of grantholders and staff and shares examples of what has worked well for others. Any views, thoughts or opinions expressed by grantholders and staff do not necessarily represent the views, thoughts or opinions of The National Lottery Community Fund ("the Fund"). The Fund does not endorse or recommend any organisation mentioned, nor does it endorse any external content linked to in this report.

The content of this report should not be taken as an instruction, guidance or advice and you should not rely on the information in this report as an alternative to professional advice.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Fund accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason whatsoever on the report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation amendment and/ or modification by any third party is entirely at their own risk. We make no representations, warranties or guarantees, whether express or implied, that the content of this report is accurate, complete or up to date.

© Crown copyright 2021

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit <u>nationalarchives</u>. gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned. This publication is available at gov.uk/government/publications

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at The National Lottery Community Fund, 1 Plough Place, London, EC4A 1DE, or you can email us at knowledge@tnlcommunityfund.org.uk

The Knowledge and Learning team at The National Lottery Community Fund share insights from the experience of our funding and the difference it makes. If you would like to tell us what you think of this report, or share relevant findings and learning, please email us at knowledge@tnlcommunityfund.org.uk

Key contacts: Anne-Mari Hall and Jo Woodall

The National Lottery Community Fund Version 1. Published in April 2021. Reference: KL21-01